RECEIVED

10-04-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2010AP000425

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

TRAMELL E. STARKS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, AFFIRMING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KEVIN E. MARTENS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

TRICIA J. BUSHNELL Bar No. 1080889

CAITLIN PLUMMER Bar No. 1090090 MICHAEL BOSHARDY R. WARREN BECK JOSHUA JARRETT Law Students

LINDSEY E. SMITH

Bar No. 1079795

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
ARGUMENT7
I.STARKS'S UNTIMELY <i>CHERRY</i> MOTION DOES NOT COUNT AS A PRIOR MOTION FOR PURPOSES OF § 974.06(4), AS INTERPRETED BY <i>ESCALONA-NARANJO</i>
A. The court of appeals' interpretation of § 974.06 fails as a matter of statutory construction9
1. The court of appeals' ruling contradicts the plain language of § 974.06(4)
2. The structure of the criminal code makes clear that a Cherry motion is not a prior motion for the purposes of § 974.06(4) 14
 B. The court of appeals' ruling complicates what is otherwise an effective mechanism for promoting finality.
II.STARKS'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF POSTCONVICTION COUNSEL CLAIM WAS PROPERLY PLEADED TO SATISFY <i>ESCALONA-</i> <i>NARANJO'S</i> SUFFICIENT REASON REQUIREMENT
 A. A claim of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel satisfies the "sufficient reason" requirement under <i>Escalona-Naranjo</i> provided a defendant meets the pleading standard set forth in <i>Balliette</i>

В.	The State's proposed alternative is unduly taxing on defendants and courts and was previously rejected by this Court
C.	The United States Supreme Court has held that a defendant can overcome procedural bars based upon ineffective assistance of counsel where he has pleaded facts entitling him to an evidentiary hearing
D.	Starks has sufficiently pleaded his claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel and has shown "sufficient reason" why these claims should be heard in his current § 974.06 motion
CONCLUSIO	DN
CERTIFICA	ΓΙΟΝS

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES

Wis. Const. Art. I, Sec. 9
Wis. Stat. § 809.32
Wis. Stat. § 973.19 10, 15
Wis. Stat. § 974.02
Wis. Stat. § 974.06 passim
CASES
Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 111 S. Ct. 2546 (1991)
Malone v. Walls, 538 F.3d 744 (7th Cir. 2008) 31
Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137 (1803) 28
Martinez v. Ryan, 132 S. Ct. 1309 (2012) 26, 27, 28
<i>Miller–El v. Cockrell</i> , 537 U.S. 322, 123 S. Ct. 1029, 154 L.Ed. 2d 931 (2003)27
Peterson v. State, 54 Wis.2d 370, 195 N.W.2d 837 (1972) 11
Seider v. O'Connell, 2000 WI 76, 236 Wis.2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 6599
Smith v. State, 85 Wis.2d 650, 271 N.W.2d 20 (1978) 11
State ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry, 2006 WI 49, 290 Wis.2d 352, 714 N.W.2d 900
State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County (In re Criminal Complaint), 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 10, 14, 17
State ex rel. Rothering v. McCaughtry, 205 Wis.2d 675, 556 N.W.2d 136 (Wis. App. 1996)20, 21

State v. Allen, 2010 WI 89, 328 Wis.2d 1, 786 N.W.2d 124
State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, 274 Wis.2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 19
State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, 336 Wis.2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 passim
State v. Cherry, 2008 WI App 80, 312 Wis.2d 203, 752 N.W.2d 393
State v. Escalona–Naranjo, 185 Wis.2d 168, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994) passim
State v. Evans, 2004 WI 84, 273 Wis.2d 192, 682 N.W.2d 784
State v. Henley, 2010 WI 97, 328 Wis.2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350
<i>State v. Jeannie M.P.</i> , 2005 WI App 183, 286 Wis.2d 721, 703 N.W.2d 694
State v. Lo, 2003 WI 107, 264 Wis.2d 1, 665 N.W.2d 756.13
State v. Love, 2005 WI 116, 284 Wis.2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62
State v. Machner, 92 Wis.2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Wis. App. 1979)
State v. Matamoros, No. 2009AP2982, 2010 WL 5158230, (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2010)(unpublished)12
State v. Nickel, 2010 WI App 161, 330 Wis.2d 750, 794 N.W.2d 76511, 14
State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis.2d 628, 369 N.W.2d 711 (Wis. 1985)
State v. Sanchez, 201 Wis.2d 219, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996) 21

v

State v. Starks, No. 2010AP425, 2011 WL 2314951
(unpublished)
State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, 264 Wis.2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305
State v. Ziebart, 2003 WI App 258, 268 Wis.2d 468, 673 N.W.2d 369
<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
Sullivan v. Fairman, 819 F.2d 1382 (7th Cir. 1987)

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Does Starks's motion to vacate a DNA surcharge count as a prior motion for purposes of the successive motion bar under Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4) and *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis.2d 168, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994)?

In opposing Starks's petition for review, the State conceded that a DNA surcharge motion does not count as a prior motion under § 974.06(4) and *Escalona-Naranjo*.

The circuit court did not address this issue, but the court of appeals held that the motion to vacate a DNA surcharge counted as a prior motion.

II. What are the pleading standards for determining whether a defendant's allegations of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel for failing to allege ineffective assistance of trial counsel that satisfy the "sufficient reason" requirement of § 974.06(4)?

In granting review, this Court requested the parties address this question, which was not previously addressed. In agreement with the lower courts, Starks maintains that a defendant need only satisfy the standard set forth in *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, 336 Wis.2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. That is, a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing and simultaneously establishes a sufficient reason for the purpose of overcoming the procedural bar set forth in § 974.06(4).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Consistent with this Court's practice, oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Procedural History

This appeal arises out of a conviction for first-degree reckless homicide and felon in possession of a firearm. Tramell Starks was convicted on December 11, 2006 after a jury trial. (57.) He was sentenced to a total of 36 years in prison and 19 years extended supervision. (*Id.*) After Starks's conviction, counsel filed a notice of appeal. (64.) No postconviction motions were filed on direct review. In his direct appeal, Starks alleged four claims through appointed counsel, all of which were different than the issues in the present appeal. (108:2.) The court rejected each of these claims and this Court denied Starks's petition for review. (110.)

Nine months later, on December 17, 2009, now acting pro se, Starks attempted to file his first postconviction motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06. (121.) The circuit court dismissed this motion on January 4, 2010 for not complying with the local rule regarding page limits. (122.)

Two days later, on January 6, 2010, Starks filed a pro se motion to vacate a DNA surcharge, which the court denied the same day as untimely. (123;124.)

Less than two weeks later, Starks re-filed his now corrected § 974.06 motion on January 19, 2010. (125;A-APP101.) This motion alleged that his postconviction counsel was ineffective for failing to raise six claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. (125;A-APP102.) None of these claims were previously raised on direct appeal.

The circuit court denied Starks's § 974.06 motion on the merits without a hearing. (126.) The circuit court addressed the claims as pleaded by Starks and concluded that he had "not set forth a viable claim for relief with regard to trial counsel's performance." (126:6.) Therefore, the court did "not find that postconviction counsel was ineffective for failing to raise such claims." (*Id.*)

Starks appealed and the court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's denial, but adopted different reasoning. *See State v. Starks*, No. 2010AP425, 2011 WL 2314951 (Wis. Ct. App. June 14, 2011) (unpublished opinion). The court found that the entire motion was procedurally barred by § 974.06(4) and this Court's holding in *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis.2d 168, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994), because Starks had not offered a sufficient reason for why the issues were not raised in his motion to vacate the DNA surcharge. *Id.* The court stated that while ineffective assistance of counsel could constitute a sufficient reason for why the claims were not raised on direct appeal, it did "not explain why the issues in the current § 974.06 motion were not raised at the time of Starks's previous pro se motion." *Id.*

Starks petitioned this Court for review, again pro se. The State argued against review, but conceded that the court of appeals' analysis was incorrect, because a motion for discretionary relief from the DNA surcharge cannot constitute a prior motion under § 974.06(4), as interpreted by *Escalona-Naranjo*. (A-APP248.)

This Court granted the petition for review.

The Crime

Starks's conviction arose out of a shooting in Milwaukee. (2:1.) On March 31, 2005, a neighbor called 911 after hearing gunshots from Lee Weddle's home. (2:1.) Police arrived to find Weddle bleeding on the kitchen floor. (2:1.) Medical personnel was called to the scene, but Weddle died a short time later. (2:1.)

Police canvassed the neighborhood and spoke with a witness who reported hearing gunshots and observed several men fleeing Weddle's house. (85:35.) The men entered two cars and drove away. (85:35.)

Within a few weeks, police received an anonymous tip that reported Starks was the shooter and named several men who were allegedly present at the time of the shooting, including Wayne Rogers. (2:2.) About four months later, officers arrested Rogers for a drug offense and questioned him about Weddle's death. (2:3.) Though he admitted to being in the house during the shooting, he told authorities he was asleep and did not know who fired the shots. (2:3.)

Police continued to question Rogers. After providing several different versions of events, Rogers stated that it was Starks who shot Weddle. (2:3.) He told police that several others were present at the house that morning, including Devin Ward, Carvius Williams, Antwon Nellum, Stephen Seward, and Mario Mills. (2:3.)

Eight months after Weddle's death, Starks was arrested and charged with first-degree intentional homicide and felon in possession of a firearm. (2.) At trial, the State argued that Starks fought with Weddle, retrieved a gun from Mills and then shot Weddle three times. (86:28-35.) The State relied on the testimony of several of the men present during the shooting, including Rogers, Williams and Ward. (28:1-3.)

Rogers claimed that Starks and Weddle got into a fist fight and at one point Weddle ripped out a clump of Starks's hair. (2:3;86:31.) He also claimed that Mills then handed Starks a gun which Starks used to shoot Weddle several times. (2:3;86:34-35.) Despite saying that Weddle was his best friend, Rogers admitted that he fled the scene and never returned to check on Weddle. (86:37,49.)

Williams and Ward also described the fight at the home prior to the shooting. (89:67-70;84:20-21.) Williams testified that he saw the shooting and ran from the home. (89:72.) Ward testified that he heard shots, but did not see who shot Weddle because he left prior to the shooting. (84:23.) The State also relied on the testimony of Starks's cousin, Trenton Gray. Gray testified that Starks made incriminating statements after the shooting. (88:52,56-57.) Gray claimed Starks made these statements on two separate occasions: once during a cell phone conversation and another time in-person at a relative's funeral. *Id*.

At the time of trial, the federal government was prosecuting Rogers, Williams, and Gray for their involvement in drug activity. (86:15;89:51-52;88:44.) Ward was on state probation for a previous drug conviction. (84:38-39.) Each of the men admitted he hoped to receive a more lenient sentence as result of his testimony. (86:14-15;84:38-39;88:45;89:51-52.) In fact, Ward admitted that the only reason he agreed to testify was because he was on probation and the State was "hanging prison over [his] head." (84:39.)

Starks's Postconviction Pleading

In his § 974.06 motion, Starks alleged ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel for failing to allege ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Starks maintained that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to: (1) call Mario Mills as a witness; (2) investigate or call Dion Anderson; (3) investigate Willie R. Gill ("Junebug"); and, (4) investigate or call Mary McCallum and Stanley Daniels as witnesses. (125;A-APP102.)¹

Specifically, Starks argued that trial counsel failed to call Mario Mills to testify at trial. (125:A-APP119.) Mills was present at the time of the shooting and was originally Starks's co-defendant to the charges before pleading no contest. (2.) Starks alleged that Mills would have presented an eyewitness account of the shooting that differed from the State's witnesses. (125:A-APP119.) In support of his allegations, Starks attached an affidavit from Mario Mills stating he never saw Starks shoot anyone and that Rogers was "the only

¹ Starks initially raised additional claims in his postconviction motion. He raises only four here.

individual to have a weapon at the time of this incident." (125:A-APP190.)

Starks also alleged that trial counsel failed to interview and bring to the jury's attention testimony from Dion Anderson, a witness for the State who was not called at trial. (125:A-APP116.) Despite a sequestration order by the circuit court, two of the state's witnesses, Trenton Gray and Wayne Rogers, were transported to the courthouse together. (Id.) Though Starks's trial counsel moved for a mistrial due to violation of the order, he failed to seek testimony from Dion Anderson, who was in the same transport van. (Id.) Starks's alleged in his motion that "[h]ad counsel investigated or interviewed Anderson, he would have discovered that the witnesses influenced each other [sic] testimony. Anderson could have been called as a witness to testify as to the substance of the conversation between himself, Gray, and Rogers." (Id.) Attached to Starks's motion was a letter from Anderson, stating that he was in the transport van with Rogers and Gray and that he "[knows] how they put everything together to get my cousin, 'Tramell Starks' for a [] murder he didn't do." (125:A-APP181.)

Starks also alleged that counsel failed to obtain and investigate the phone records of Willie R. Gill, also known as "Junebug", which would have undermined the credibility of Trenton Gray. (125:A-APP114.) At trial, Gray testified that Starks made incriminating statements to him regarding the death of Weddle over Gill's phone. (88:52-53,77;125:A-APP114.) Starks alleged trial counsel failed to investigate or attempt to contact Gill to determine the veracity of Gray's statements. (125:A-APP114-15.) In his § 974.06 motion, Starks stated that, "[i]f counsel had investigated, counsel could have obtained Junebug's phone records for March 31, 2005 and compared his outgoing calls to Gray's incoming calls around the time alleged by Gray. This would have proven that Gray's assertions were completely false and this would have bolstered the credibility of the Defendant." (125:A-APP115.) Starks also alleged counsel was ineffective for failing to produce Gill as a "pivotal witness," (125:A-APP114), who would have testified that he never gave Gray his phone to call Starks. Starks attached Gray's phone records showing Gill's number to his § 974.06 motion. (125:A-APP156-58.)

Finally, Starks alleged that counsel failed to investigate or call two witnesses, Mary McCullum and Stanley Daniels, to impeach Trenton Gray. (125:A-APP117.) Gray testified that he spoke with Starks at a funeral where Starks made incriminating statements about the shooting. (125:A-APP117;88:56.) Both Mary McCullum and Stanley Daniels signed affidavits stating that they were present at the funeral and that they never saw Starks speaking with Gray. (125;A-APP199-200.) Had trial counsel investigated these witnesses, their testimony could have been presented to undermine the credibility of Gray.

The circuit court denied Starks's motion without a hearing on the basis that the motion did not sufficiently allege a constitutional violation. (126.) The court of appeals affirmed on the alternative basis that the motion was procedurally barred under *Escalona-Naranjo*.

ARGUMENT

At its core, this case asks the Court to logically interpret statutory language and uphold precedent. First, the court of appeals' decision is incorrect because it misconstrued § 974.06(4) by contradicting its plain language and conflating it with a separate chapter of the criminal code. Second, Starks provided a sufficient reason to overcome the subsection (4) procedural bar by adequately pleading that his postconviction counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge his trial counsel's ineffectiveness. This Court should overturn the court of appeals' decision and remand this case for an evidentiary hearing.

I. STARKS'S UNTIMELY CHERRY MOTION DOES NOT COUNT AS A PRIOR MOTION FOR PURPOSES OF § 974.06(4), AS INTERPRETED BY ESCALONA-NARANJO.

The court of appeals fundamentally misinterpreted § 974.06(4) when it found that a motion to vacate a \$250 DNA surcharge (a "*Cherry* motion")² procedurally barred an entirely unrelated § 974.06 motion asserting constitutional claims. The court's ruling violates the language of the statute and prior holdings of this Court.

In *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis.2d 168, 185, 517, N.W.2d 157 (1994), this Court interpreted the statutory language of § 974.06(4) to limit postconviction litigants to one opportunity to raise constitutional claims, unless there is sufficient reason for not raising them in a prior motion in which they "could have been raised." Subsection (4) reads in its entirety:

All grounds for relief available to a person under this section must be raised in his or her original, supplemental or amended motion. Any ground finally adjudicated or not so raised, or knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived in the proceeding that resulted in the conviction or sentence or in any other proceeding the person has taken to secure relief may not be the basis for a subsequent motion, unless the court finds a ground for relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental or amended motion.

The *Escalona-Naranjo* Court determined that the words "original, supplemental, or amended motion"

² Hereinafter, this type of motion will be termed a "*Cherry* motion." See State v. Cherry, 2008 WI App 80, ¶9, 312 Wis.2d 203, 752 N.W.2d 393 (finding that with limited exceptions, § 973.046 contemplates that sentencing courts will exercise discretion when deciding whether to impose a DNA surcharge as part of a sentence).

encompass both direct appeal³ and prior § 974.06 motions. *Id.* at 181. Therefore, if a constitutional claim was not raised on direct appeal or a previous § 974.06 motion, the movant must offer a "sufficient reason" for why it was not.

This case requires the Court to decide whether, even though a constitutional claim cannot be brought in a *Cherry* motion, that type of motion also triggers the sufficient reason requirement of § 974.06(4). This is a question of statutory construction, "which this court decides independently and without deference to the reasoning of the lower courts." *See Escalona-Naranjo*, at 176.

A. The court of appeals' interpretation of § 974.06 fails as a matter of statutory construction.

The question before this court is simple: Did the legislature intend to include *Cherry* motions in its definition of "original, supplemental, or amended motion?" The beginning and ending point of that inquiry is the statutory language. While many decisions of this court have interpreted that language, most notably *Escalona-Naranjo*, the procedural bar of § 974.06(4) is not a judicially created doctrine. It is the judiciary's role to interpret it, but the terms of the statute can only be amended or expanded by the legislature. However, the court of appeals decision in *Starks* does more than interpret—it fundamentally and erroneously alters the meaning of the statute in an unsupported and unreasonable way.

1. The court of appeals' ruling contradicts the plain language of § 974.06(4).

In matters of statutory construction, this Court "begins with the language of the statute." *Seider v. O'Connell*, 2000 WI 76, ¶43, 236 Wis.2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659. "If the

³"Direct appeal" is meant to encompass filings pursuant to § 809.30, § 974.02, and the no-merit procedure described in § 809.32. See State v. Allen, 2010 WI 89, ¶92, 328 Wis.2d 1, 786 N.W.2d 124.

meaning of the statute is plain, [the court] ordinarily stop[s] the inquiry." *Id.* Statutes should be interpreted in order to give them their "full, proper, and intended effect" and to "avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County (In re Criminal Complaint)*, 2004 WI 58, ¶¶44, 46, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Here, the court of appeals' interpretation of § 974.06(4) contradicts the plain language of statute and would lead to absurd results.

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