# RECEIVED

11-21-2012

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

IN SUPREME COUR **PF WISCONSIN** 

Appeal No. 2010AP425

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TRAMELL E. STARKS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, UPHOLDING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM W. BRASH, PRESIDING; AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR RELIEF, THE HONORABLE KEVIN E. MARTENS, PRESIDING, BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SARAH K. LARSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030446

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

That the cases require the "clearly stronger" standard is not surprising, because that standard naturally and logically flows from the proposition that postconviction counsel is not required to raise all issues on appeal. *See, e.g., Howard v. Gramley*, 225 F.3d 784, 790-91 (7th Cir. 2000); *Winters v. Miller*, 274 F.3d 1161, 1167 (7th Cir. 2001); *Whitehead v. Cowan*, 263 F.3d 708, 731-32 (7th Cir. 2001).

Starks argues that *Martinez v. Ryan*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 132 S. Ct. 1309, 1318 (2012), shows that only a "merits standard" is required to receive a hearing on claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel; because the Court did not require the *Martinez* defendant to prove his claim was a "winning one" (Starks' brief at 26-29).

*Martinez*, however, does not so hold for defendants in Starks' procedural posture. Indeed, *Martinez* expressly <u>rejected</u> Starks' contention that a merits-based standard applies to a collateral review after a defendant has already had a direct appeal to raise his ineffective assistance of counsel claims. *Martinez*, 132 S. Ct. at 1319-20.

In *Martinez*, the Court discussed how Arizona unlike Wisconsin—does not permit defendants to raise ineffective assistance of trial counsel on direct appeal; under Arizona's appellate structure, the first time the claim can be raised is during an "initial-review" collateral proceeding. *Id.* at 1313. The defendant therefore argued he had "cause" to excuse his procedural default on federal *habeas*, because his postconviction counsel had failed to raise ineffective assistance of trial counsel in the "initialreview" collateral proceeding. *Id.* at 1313-14.

The Court agreed, but only because the "initialreview collateral proceedings" in Arizona constituted the defendant's "one and only appeal" as to an ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim, and was the first opportunity to raise the claim. *Id.* at 1315. By deliberately choosing to move trial-ineffectiveness claims outside of the direct-appeal process, where counsel is constitutionally guaranteed, Arizona could not later assert procedural default in federal *habeas* proceedings. *Id.* at 1318-19.

In so holding, however, the Court distinguished Arizona's "initial-review" collateral proceedings with other collateral proceedings where the defendant has already had the opportunity to have his claims addressed by a court, such as an appellate court on direct review. *Id.* at 1316-17 ("initial-review collateral proceeding" was akin to direct appeal as to claim of trial counsel's ineffectiveness; defendant had not yet had benefit of counsel or court opinion addressing claim).

Thus, the Court explicitly rejected the use of this limited "equitable rule" for defendants in Starks'

procedural posture—and held that collateral cases on direct review from a state court remained "unaffected" by the Court's ruling. *Id.* at 1320 (limited holding does not concern attorney errors in successive collateral proceedings or extend beyond first occasion state allows prisoner to raise claim of trial counsel's ineffectiveness).

Accordingly, *Martinez's* merit standard has no application to defendants in Starks' procedural posture— or in Wisconsin's appellate system, wherein defendants <u>have</u> the right on direct appeal to raise ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims.

- C. This court should require the "clearly stronger" or "obvious and strong" standard as a matter of policy.
  - 1. The "clearly stronger" standard is not unduly onerous, even for *pro se* defendants.

Starks argues that requiring defendants to assert the not-raised claims are "clearly stronger" is unduly onerous, especially for *pro se* defendants, requiring them to prove up the claims on the merits in the pleadings, rather than just allege them (Starks' brief at 23-26). Starks further asserts that such a showing would involve facts not on the record, or subjective or speculative impressions of why counsel did something or failed to do something, thereby requiring him to "plead information that can only be obtained from an evidentiary hearing" (*id.* at 25-26).

Starks concludes this burden is unreasonable and "clearly impossible" to meet, and would mean defendants "would never be entitled to relief, no matter how egregious postconviction counsel's error"—such that he should be entitled to an evidentiary hearing to find out

facts, particularly where postconviction counsel is uncooperative (*id.* at 26-28).

This court, however, has never required defendants to definitively prove up their claims in the pleadings in order to obtain relief. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶61 (motion not required to contain <u>proof</u> necessary to show defendant was entitled to new trial; if it did, defendant would not need evidentiary hearing).

But this court <u>has</u> always required defendants to plead the <u>material facts</u> of their allegations with specificity in their postconviction motions, and has precluded the use of evidentiary hearings as tools for defendants to explore or discover the facts related to their claims. *Id.* ¶¶61, 68 (evidentiary hearing is not end in itself, nor is it fishing expedition to discover ineffective assistance; it is forum to prove ineffective assistance).

In other words, this court has never allowed defendants to rely upon evidentiary hearings to supplement or shore up their conclusory or inadequate pleadings. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313 (moving papers must allege facts supporting postconviction claims); *(John) Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶23 ("four corners" of motion must contain sufficient material objectivity described by five "w's" and one "h" test).

Requiring a defendant to allege specific facts in his pleadings, however, is not synonymous to requiring proof of the claim in the pleadings. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶61. Nor is it impossible for defendants—even *pro se* defendants—to plead their facts and *Rothering* claims with particularity. *Id.* ¶57. As this court has recognized, defendants must often rely on facts outside of the record, but defendants must still plead those facts with specificity:

*Bentley*-type allegations [of ineffective assistance of counsel] will often depend on facts outside the record. *To ask the court to examine facts outside the record in an evidentiary hearing requires a* 

particularized motion with sufficient supporting facts to warrant the undertaking.

....

Consequently, the requisite specificity required for establishing ... [ineffective assistance of counsel] mirrors the defendant's ultimate burden of proof.

Id. (emphasis added).

Even assuming more relaxed pleading standards exist for *pro se* defendants, the motion still needs to be particular enough to warrant the time-consuming undertaking of an evidentiary hearing, because *pro se* defendants still have the same ultimate burden of proof as represented defendants to prove up their claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel at the evidentiary hearing. *Id.* ¶¶57-58.

Nevertheless, the "clearly stronger" standard is not particularly onerous: the *pro se* defendant already knows what claims he wanted raised; and it is not too much to ask for him to find out from his postconviction counsel why counsel did or did not raise various other claims. With this information, the *pro se* defendant can allege with specificity how the attorney responded, and can then describe <u>how</u> and <u>why</u> the defendant believes the claims he wanted raised were "clearly stronger" than the ones counsel actually raised.<sup>10</sup>

This court has recognized, for example, that a defendant should include allegations of off-the-record discussions with his counsel that might demonstrate a sufficient reason for not having brought the claim earlier.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Contrary to Starks' contention (Starks' brief at 23-24), the motion is not always "clear on its face" why the defendant believes his claims are better than the ones actually raised, or how they are better, even though the court can reasonably assume that, by raising a *Rothering* claim, the defendant believes his claims are better.

(Aaron) Allen, 328 Wis. 2d 1, ¶87. See also id. ¶47 (defendants required to cite to facts outside record that, <u>if</u> <u>proved</u>, would provide sufficient reason for defendants' failure to raise issue earlier). See also Amonoo, slip op. at ¶23 (R-Ap. 112-113) (rejecting Rothering claim because defendant failed to provide affidavits or statements from postconviction counsel explaining decision to pursue one issue over others).

Further, even in Starks' hypothetical example where postconviction counsel is uncooperative (*see* Starks' brief at 25-26), the defendant could still allege in his pleadings, with specificity, <u>how</u> and <u>when</u> he tried to get the information; <u>what facts</u> showed that his counsel would not cooperate; or <u>how</u> or <u>in what manner</u> counsel was uncooperative—for example, by not responding to the defendant's letters, or not calling the defendant back.

Or, if the defendant's status as a prisoner is an impediment to his efforts to obtain information from his postconviction counsel because of practicality or finances, the defendant must still allege those specific facts in his pleadings—what he tried to do to get the information, what impediments existed to his efforts, why he was unable to complete his factual investigation into counsel's reasons, and so forth.

Thus, if the defendant does not know why his counsel did or did not do something, he is not required to speculate as to the reasons; but he <u>is</u> required to at least <u>attempt</u> to glean the information from his postconviction counsel. And if he cannot, the defendant must allege those supporting facts in his pleadings. At that juncture, if the defendant has adequately pleaded his inability to obtain the information, the circuit court could then, for example, order that the defendant or defendant's counsel submit more specific information regarding the motion, before deciding if an evidentiary hearing is warranted. (John) Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶15.

In other words, the defendant is not stuck without any remedy, even if he truly believes he is unable to ascertain without a hearing <u>why</u> counsel did not raise various claims. Even without this information from postconviction counsel, the defendant <u>can</u> still allege in his pleadings, with particularity, <u>how</u> and <u>why</u> the claims he wanted raised were "obvious and strong," such that counsel should have raised them. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶69.

In sum, this court's cases are clear that a *pro se* defendant is still expected to conduct <u>some</u> kind of factual investigation in an effort to determine why his postconviction counsel did not raise various claims. He cannot just baldly assert "ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel" without more. The defendant needs to make <u>some</u> kind of attempt—demonstrate <u>some</u> kind of effort—to marshal facts on his own behalf to support the legal allegations in his pleadings. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 3, 48, 56-68; (*Aaron*) Allen, 328 Wis. 2d 1, ¶87. Without such factual allegations, the court cannot meaningfully assess the defendant's claims that his postconviction counsel was ineffective. (John) Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶21-24.

This court's cases are similarly clear that the defendant must submit some kind of evidentiary support, such as affidavits, to support the factual allegations in his pleadings; he cannot rely on conclusory allegations alone. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶79 (defendant's allegations were conclusory because motion failed to state who would be called as witness at evidentiary hearing and what testimony was likely to prove); (*John*) Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶29-33 (conclusory allegations insufficient to support defendant's factual assertion that witnesses' documents actually existed; defendant must provide some reason to support existence of documents, and show that documents contain information defendant says they contain).

Exactly how the defendant must support his factual allegations in his pleadings is variable, because the required facts will necessarily depend on the nature of the defendant's underlying ineffective assistance claims. In general, however, (*John*) *Allen's* five "w's" and one "h" test contains the "blueprint" for the material factual objectivity required to meaningfully assess the defendant's claims. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶58-59 ((*John*) *Allen* who, what, where, when, why, and how test is "practical and specific blueprint" for applying theoretical framework and policy favoring finality).

Both the court and the State are entitled to know what is expected to happen, and what the defendant intends to prove, at the evidentiary hearing. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶68. In order to accomplish this, the defendant must plead his facts with particularity—facts which, <u>if true</u>, would entitle him to relief. *Id.* ¶¶69-70.

Particularly Starks' at procedural stagepostconviction and post-direct-appeal—the "strong policy" of finality is paramount, and defendants are required to do more than what Starks asserts. Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶58. See also (Aaron) Allen, 328 Wis. 2d 1, ¶90 (if defendant brings claims years after his appeal without any reason for not having raised them earlier, it "simply emphasizes the need to uphold this principle of finality"); (John) Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶11 (given strong policy favoring finality, sufficiency standard for postconviction motion requires more from defendants).

2. The "clearly stronger" or "obvious and very strong" standard promotes the finality contemplated by *Escalona-Naranjo* but which, as of yet, has not been achieved.

Further, this court should reject Starks' contention that the "clearly stronger" burden of proof unfairly shifts the workload to defendants and the circuit court (Starks' brief at 24). This burden is rightly placed on the defendant, because it is the defendant's motion to prove. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶18; (*Aaron*) Allen, 328 Wis. 2d 1, ¶83.

Moreover, insofar as the workload has shifted to circuit courts, that shift is proper and not problematic, because the circuit court is the most appropriate venue to assess the defendant's claims at this procedural juncture. *(John) Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶9 (circuit court in best position to evaluate record and pleadings; form independent judgment about those claims; and grant or deny evidentiary hearing in its discretion).

The trajectory of this court's cases, however, demonstrates that the burden of the workload has now unfairly shifted to the <u>State</u> and to the <u>appellate courts</u>, because defendants have failed to adequately plead their ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel claims in the trial courts. *Id.* ¶15 (despite "repetitive theme" of requiring specificity in postconviction motions, "many defendants continue to file insufficient postconviction motions"). *See also Lo*, 264 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 99-108 (C.J. Abrahamson, dissenting) (*Escalona-Naranjo* still causes problems and practical difficulties, and has not promoted or accomplished finality, burdening both courts <u>and</u> State).

The plethora of cases in the court of appeals also demonstrates that defendants have not been held to task in

meeting their required burden of alleging their claims with particularity to meet the "sufficient reason" standard. As Chief Justice Abrahamson explained in her Lo dissent, defendants are still able to circumvent Escalona-Naranjo, and "serial litigation" is still allowed, because defendants "are getting review of their claims of trial court error despite Escalona through the circuitous and cumbersome route of claiming *'ineffective* assistance of [postconviction] counsel." Lo, 264 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 90, 106 (C.J. Abrahamson, dissenting). See also id. ¶50 (Rothering claims lead to circular analysis whereby court must address actual merits of claims in order to determine whether defendant should be procedurally barred from obtaining review of same issues).

Moreover. contrary to Starks' contention that *Escalona-Naranjo* is an "effective mechanism for promoting finality" or that the rule is "easy to understand and simple for the courts to apply" (Starks' brief at 17-18), post-*Lo* cases make clear that this finality has not yet been achieved, and litigation continues to arise. Indeed, Starks concedes (*id.* at 22) that the court of appeals has issued a plethora of *per curiam*, non-citable opinions; yet defendants still attempt to assert *Rothering* claims without meeting their required pleading burdens.

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